

TEMPORAL AND SPATIAL VARIATION IN WEED COMMUNITY COMPOSITION OF SPRING CEREAL FIELDS

Terho Hyvönen

Department of Applied Biology University of Helsinki Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in Auditorium XIII, Unioninkatu 34, Helsinki, on May 28th, at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2004

Hyvönen, T. Temporal and spatial variation in weed community composition of spring cereal fields 17 p.

Keywords: biodiversity, herbicide, organic farming, weed survey

Supervised by	Dr. Jukka Salonen MTT Agrifood Research Finland Finland
	Prof. Juha Helenius University of Helsinki Finland
Reviewed by	Prof. Håkan Fogelfors Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU) Sweden
	Doc. Heikki Toivonen Finnish Environment Institute Finland
Examined by	Assoc. Prof. Christian Andreasen The Royal Veterinary and Agricultural University (KVL) Denmark

ISBN 952-10-1845-3 (paperback) ISBN 952-10-1846-1 (PDF) ISSN 1457-8085

Yliopistopaino, Helsinki, Finland, 2004

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. MATERIAL AND METHODS	4
2.1. Study areas	4
2.2. Study design and sampling, measurements	4
2.3. Analyses of the data	5
2.3.1. Weed infestation	5
2.3.2. Species diversity	5
2.3.3. Species composition	6
3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	6
3.1. Weed infestation (I, II)	6
3.2. Species diversity (I, III, IV)	8
3.3. Spatial variation in weed communities (I, II, III, V)	9
4. CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	11
REFERENCES	12

ABSTRACT

The thesis focuses on the impacts of recent changes in cropping practices on the abundance, species diversity and species composition of weed communities in Finnish spring cereal fields. The most important changes have been a decline in the application rates of herbicides, an increase in the application of sulphonylureas and expansion of the area of organic cropping. The main factors driving these changes were the pesticide reduction programme and adoption of the Common Agricultural Policy of the EU.

To explore the abundance, species composition and species diversity of the weed communities, a survey of weeds was conducted in 16 regions of southern and central Finland in 1997-1999. Data were collected from conventional and organic farms, all applying their normal cropping practices. A total of 690 fields were investigated. Data from 10 of the regions were applied in a detailed comparison with corresponding weed survey data collected in 1982-1984. The species composition and diversity of weed communities of conventional and alternative (organic or low-input) cropping were compared in a three-year field survey and in a six-year field experiment. Furthermore, the spatial variation in the species composition of a weed community was investigated in a field survey of a patch of farmland.

The current weed infestation level was found to be 329 kg ha⁻¹ and 243 individuals m⁻². The difference in weed abundance between organically and conventionally cropped fields was clear in terms of both dry weight (678 vs. 163 kg ha⁻¹) and number of individuals (469 vs. 136 individuals m⁻²). The change in weed abundance between the 1980s and 1990s was small (31.1 kg ha⁻¹ and 46.6 individuals m⁻²). The most important weed species were to a large extent the same as in the 1980s. The effect of the more common use of sulphonylureas had only a minor effect on species composition.

Altogether 160 or 188 weed species were recorded in the weed survey, depending on the size of the sample quadrat applied. No threatened weed species were found. Alternative cropping was found to support a higher total and mean number of weed species than conventional cropping. The mean species number was higher in alternative cropping both in the field survey of organic fields (variation in averages between regions 14-25.1 vs. 6.6-17.6 species) and in the experimental study of low-input cropping (average per field strip 20.2 vs. 13.1 species). The difference in the mean species number between cropping practices remained minimal (two species) when the number of species was adjusted to similar sample sizes in terms of the number of individuals. Application of herbicides in conventional cropping was regarded as the most important factor affecting the difference in species richness compared to organic cropping. The impact of nitrogen fertilisation and crop rotation was weak. Specialisation of production and the application of different management practices increased the spatial variation among farms. The spatial variation in the weed community was greater within the patch of farmland than between regions.

In terms of crop protection, the current weed infestation level of conventionally cropped spring cereal fields can be regarded as tolerable. In contrast, organic cropping will require direct weed control measures in the future. As to biodiversity, the slight increase in the abundance of some broad-leaved weed species in conventional fields and the high species diversity of organic cropping can be regarded as beneficial. Spring cereal fields, however, are not an important habitat for species conservation.

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The thesis is based on the following articles, which are referred to by their Roman numerals in the text.

- I Salonen, J., Hyvönen, T. and Jalli, H. 2001. Weeds in spring cereal fields in Finland a third survey. *Agricultural and Food Science in Finland* 10: 347-364.
- II Hyvönen, T., Ketoja, E. and Salonen, J. 2003. Changes in the abundance of weeds in spring cereal fields in Finland. *Weed Research* 43: 348-356.
- III Hyvönen, T., Ketoja, E., Salonen, J., Jalli, H. and Tiainen, J. 2003. Weed species diversity and community composition in organic and conventional cropping of spring cereals. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 97: 131-149.
- IV Hyvönen, T. and Salonen, J. 2002. Weed species diversity and community composition in cropping practices at two intensity levels – a six-year experiment. *Plant Ecology* 159: 73-81.
- V Hyvönen, T., Holopainen, J. and Tiainen, J. 2004. Detecting the spatial component of variation in the weed community with variation partitioning by CCA (submitted manuscript).

Published articles are reprinted with permission of Agricultural and Food Science in Finland (I), European Weed Research Society (II), Elsevier Science (III) and Kluwer Academic Publishers (IV).

1. INTRODUCTION

Concern about the loss of biodiversity has grown since the adoption of the Convention on Biological Diversity at the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development in Rio de Janeiro in 1992. The biodiversity of agroecosystems includes both domesticated and wild species and covers a wide range of organisms (Swift & Anderson, 1993; Collins & Qualset, 1999). Concern about the loss of diversity of wild species has focused mainly on the most species-rich habitats, e.g. meadows; the diversity of the wild species occupying arable fields has received less attention.

The biodiversity of arable fields can be divided into 'planned' and 'associated' biodiversity (see Altieri, 1999; Vandermeer *et al.*, 2002). Planned biodiversity refers to the diversity directly manipulated by a farmer, for instance, the crops chosen for planting. Associated biodiversity consists of the organisms that have colonised the field and thrive there, depending on the way the planned biodiversity is managed. Weed species, i.e. all non-cropped plant species encountered in the field, constitute an important part of the associated biodiversity of arable fields. The weeds within these fields are important for the conservation of rare and endangered species (Wilson, 1991) and for the support of other farmland species by acting as a food source for beneficial insects and farmland birds (Sotherton, 1990; Wilson *et al.*, 1999; Marshall *et al.*, 2003).

The plant species of arable weed communities have adapted to cope with regular disturbances in the form of cropping measures. These disturbances form a disturbance regime characterised by the frequency, intensity and extent of the disturbances (Pickett & White, 1985). Changes in these three characters maintain the dynamics of the species composition of the community whilst changes in cropping measures alter the relative abundance and number of species in the weed community. Shifts in the relative abundance of species are of interest in terms of weed control, and shifts in the number of species in terms of biodiversity. This thesis focuses on the effects of recent changes in cropping practices on the weed communities of Finnish spring cereal fields. Both weed control and biodiversity are considered.

The weed communities of Finnish spring cereals were surveyed in 1961-1964 and 1982-1984 (Mukula *et al.*, 1969; Mukula, 1974; Erviö & Salonen, 1987). Between these surveys, there was a marked intensification in the cropping practices of Finnish agriculture (see Fig. 1), and a tremendous decline in weed abundance was observed. The decline was attributed to the higher rate of nitrogen fertiliser application, more effective fertilisation methods, the increased use of crop monocultures and the application of herbicides. Similar changes have been recorded in other European countries, too (Albrecht 1995; Andreasen *et al.*, 1996). At the end of the 1990s, it was considered necessary to undertake a third weed survey of spring cereals since several further changes in arable crop production had taken place. The changes were driven by concern about the environmental impacts of modern agriculture and by adjustments to the Finland's agricultural policy.



Fig. 1. A) Field use in Finland 1950-2000 (Data source: National Agricultural Statistics). B) Area of organic farming in Finland (Data source: KTTK). C) Pesticide sales in Finland 1953-2000 (Data source: KTTK). D) Use of mineral fertilisers in Finland 1950-2000 (Data source: Kemira Ltd.)

In the early 1990s, concern about environmental issues led to the introduction of a pesticide reduction programme (Ministry of the Environment, 1992). The goal of the programme was to halve the use of pesticides between 1992 and 1995 from the baseline value (average use in 1987-1991). Around the same time, the implementation of an extensive set-aside scheme made for a vast increase in the area of set-asides (Fig. 1A). In 1995, Finland joined the European Union and adopted the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) of the EU. This entailed various changes to Finland's agricultural policy, one of which was the launch of the Agri-Environmental Support Scheme (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, 1994). The prime aim of the scheme was to reduce the nutrient load on water systems from agriculture and the side effects of pesticides on the environment. The main measures were a reduction in the use of fertilisers and pesticides, and the creation of wider field boundary strips as buffer zones. The reduced application of pesticides could be expected to have a direct effect on weed communities; however, the goal of the reduction was not specified. Another measure of the scheme with an impact on weed communities was the support given to organic farming. As a result, the area of organic farming expanded greatly in the 1990s (Fig. 1B). The Agri-Environmental Support Scheme proved to be successful since over 90% of farmers were involved in the basic scheme. In general, the adoption of CAP lowered the prices of products,

which in turn reduced economic rates of application, e.g. of herbicides. Furthermore, the application of low-dose herbicides had become more common after the weed survey of the 1980s (Fig. 1C).

The above changes in cropping measures can be expected to affect weed communities in several ways. First, a decline in application rates or abstention from the application of herbicides can be expected to increase the abundance and species richness of weed communities. Second, the application of herbicides with a certain mode of action, e.g. sulphonylureas, can be expected to affect the species composition of weed communities. Third, organic cropping can be expected to increase the abundance and species richness of weed communities and to change their species composition owing to the abstention from herbicide application, lower level of nitrogen fertilisation and greater diversity of crop rotations. These hypotheses are briefly reviewed in the following.

The results of previous studies on the effects of herbicide application on weed species richness are contradictory. Several experiments on the long-term application of herbicides have failed to report eradication of a weed species as a consequence of the application of herbicides (Fryer & Chancellor, 1970; McCurdy & Molberg, 1974; Chancellor, 1979; Mahn & Helmecke, 1979; Haas & Streibig, 1982). However, for rare and endangered species, the omission of herbicides has been found to be beneficial (e.g. Svensson & Wigren, 1986; Sotherton, 1990). The number of species per area has been found to be lower after post-emergence herbicide application (Derksen *et al.*, 1995; Hald, 1999a; Boström & Fogelfors, 1999; Boström & Fogelfors, 2002), which can be regarded as a short-term effect of herbicide application on species richness. Comparisons of weed species richness between cropping practices have shown that organic cropping supports higher species richness (e.g. Moreby *et al.*, 1994; Hald, 1999a) than conventional cropping with regular herbicide application, and also populations of rare and endangered species (Albrecht & Mattheis, 1998; Rydberg & Milberg, 2000).

The application of selective herbicides has a pronounced effect on the relative abundance of species in a weed community. Herbicides differ in terms of active ingredients, and weed species in terms of susceptibility against the active ingredients. The regular application of a herbicide with a certain active ingredient reduces the density of susceptible species and favours tolerant species (e.g. Chancellor, 1979; Mahn & Helmecke, 1979; Hume, 1987; Salonen, 1993a). Since herbicides are most often applied against broad-leaved dicots, the abundance of tolerant grasses has been found to increase (Haas & Streibig, 1982). The change in species composition is further enhanced by the shift in competition relations: herbicide-tolerant species encounter less competition when the abundance of herbicide-susceptible species has declined (Hume, 1987).

Fertilisation plays an important role in the dynamics of weed communities. Nitrogen can be regarded as the most important fertiliser although other nutrients, e.g. phosphorus, are also of some importance (Banks *et al.*, 1976; Hoveland *et al.*, 1976; Goldberg & Miller, 1990). Increased nitrogen fertilisation promotes the biomass production of crop and weeds (e.g. Mahn, 1988; Jørnsgård *et al.*, 1996), which leads to greater competition for light between weeds and crops (Haas & Streibig, 1982; Pyšek & Lepš, 1991; van Delden *et al.*, 2002; see also Wilson & Tilman, 1991). The greater competition for light has been found to favour species with a tall and erect growth form (Pyšek & Lepš, 1991) or physiological shade tolerance (Haas & Streibig, 1982). As a direct consequence of high nitrogen availability, the abundance or frequency of occurrence of nitrophilous species (e.g. *Chenopodium album* and

Elymus repens) increases (Haas & Streibig, 1982; Mahn, 1988). Organic cropping has been found to support populations of non-nitrophilous species (Rydberg & Milberg, 2000). Direct and indirect consequences of high nitrogen fertilisation have been cited as one reason for the decline in some rare weed species (Svensson & Wigren, 1986; Wilson, 1991; Wilson, 1999).

In organic cropping, diverse crop rotation – typical of animal husbandry farms – is applied as a means of fertility management (e.g. green manuring crops in rotation) and weed control. Diversity of crop rotation is expected to have only a minor effect on weed species composition (Bàrberi *et al.*, 1997) and species diversity (Doucet *et al.*, 1999) unless the rotation includes cereals sown in different seasons (Hald, 1999b) or grasslands (Paatela & Erviö, 1971; Stevenson *et al.*, 1997; Sjursen, 2001). Practising conventional dairy or organic cropping can be assumed to increase the diversity at landscape scale. The difference in crop rotation between animal and crop husbandry can be expected to have an effect on regional differences in the species composition and diversity of weed communities, too, since crop husbandry is concentrated in south and southern-western Finland whereas animal husbandry is practised mainly in eastern and central Finland.

This thesis examines the weed communities of Finnish spring cereal fields in the light of the hypotheses outlined above. The thesis had the following aims:

1) to explore the current weed infestation level and the most important weed species of spring cereals (I)

2) to study the response of the weed communities of spring cereals to recent changes in herbicide application practices (II)

3) to compare the species diversity and species composition of weed communities between the conventional and alternative (low-input or organic) cropping of spring cereals (III and IV)

4) to explore the spatial variation in species composition and environmental variables explaining the species composition in the weed community of arable fields (V)

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1. Study areas

The data for the national weed survey were collected in 16 regions in southern and central Finland (see Fig. 1 in I). Two of the southern regions – called Lammi and Jokioinen according to their base municipalities – provided the data for the comparison of organic and conventional cropping (see Fig. 1 in III). The experiment to compare low-input and conventional cropping (IV) was conducted at Jokioinen ($60^{\circ}49$ 'N, $23^{\circ}28$ 'E), and the data for detecting spatial variation (V) were collected from a patch of farmland situated near Lammi Biological Station ($61^{\circ}03$ N, $25^{\circ}03$ E).

2.2. Study design and sampling, measurements

Four of the papers (I; II; III; V) were based on data collected from ordinary farms; one (IV) was based on the data of a field experiment.

The weed survey (I; II) included the farms of the previous weed surveys as well as new ones. Organic and conventional cropping were compared (III) with the aid of patches of farmland comprising the neighbouring fields of an organic, a conventional arable and a conventional mixed (dairy production) farm. The sampling in the weed survey (I; II) and the comparison of organic and conventional cropping (III) were conducted by placing 10 sample quadrats in each field randomly. Two of them were placed at a distance of 1-3 m from the sown field edge and the other eight more than 5 m from the edge. Weed density was determined by counting the number of shoots by species from a rectangular frame measuring 0.1 m² (25 cm \times 40 cm). In four out of ten sample quadrats, weeds and cereals were cut at the soil surface and their biomasses were weighed by species after drying the samples in an air-flow dryer at 40 °C for some days. The information on cropping measures was recorded by interviewing the farmers. Both studies were conducted in 1997-1999. The weed survey data were gathered from a total of 305 farms and 690 fields.

For the detection of spatial variation (V), a 60 m \times 60 m grid was placed in the study area running in a north-south direction. The study area, which was made up of small fields (average area 4.1 ha), comprised 450 ha of farmland surrounded by forests. Weed shoots were counted by species from each sample quadrat (50 cm \times 50 cm) established at the centre of each grid cell. Data were collected from 68 fields belonging to nine farms (662 sampling quadrats) in July-August 1998. The information on cropping measures and soil was recorded by interviewing the farmers.

The study design to compare low-input and conventional cropping (IV) comprised two approaches differing in respect of the application of herbicides and fertilisation. In the conventional cropping, mineral fertilisers and herbicides were applied whereas in low-input cropping, manure was used as fertiliser and no herbicides were applied. Both cropping practices had the same five-year crop rotation and other management practices. Since there were ten field strips in the experiment, each crop occupied one field strip each year. The field strips were about 40 m × 140 m in size. Years were regarded as replicates. Weed samples were collected from the cereal field strips in August in 1992-1997. Twelve samples (area = 0.5 m^2) were taken from each field strip per year. All weed individuals and the crop plants were cut at the soil surface and taken to the laboratory for sorting and counting.

The nomenclature of plant species follows that of Hämet-Ahti et al. (1998) in all papers.

2.3. Analyses of the data

2.3.1. Weed infestation

The analysis of weed survey data (I) was conducted with descriptive methods. Analyses of the changes in weed abundance between the 1980s and the 1990s (II) were based on random effects models.

2.3.2. Species diversity

Three different levels of species diversity can be distinguished: point diversity (alpha diversity), the rate of change in point diversity between two samples and the turnover of species (beta diversity) and the number of species in the whole region (gamma diversity) (Whittaker, 1970). Here, species diversity was studied at all three levels. Gamma diversity was measured with the aid of the number of species (I, III, IV). Beta diversity was measured with the aid of Jaccard's similarity coefficient (I; III), the similarity ratio (IV) and the proportion of joint species in the species pool (I; III) (see van Tongeren, 1995). The number of species (I; III; IV) along with diversity indices (Shannon diversity index (IV) and Hill's evenness index (I) (see Magurran, 2004)) was applied as a measure of alpha diversity.

Since the number of species and the number of individuals have a positive relationship (e.g. Magurran, 2004), species numbers were adjusted to the same number of individuals for the comparison by rarefaction (I; III; see Heck *et al.*, 1975) and general linear mixed models (III). In one of the studies (IV), the statistical significance of the differences in number of species, the values of Shannon diversity indices and the biomasses of crops were tested between low-input and conventional cropping using the Wilcoxon Signed Rank test (accidentally, Wilcoxon two-sample test was applied in the original article, see 'errata for the article IV' for explanation).

2.3.3. Species composition

The variation partitioning method (Borcard *et al.*, 1992) by Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) was applied to study the interaction and importance of farm, soil, physical, crop and spatial variables to explain the variation in weed species composition (V). The CCA analyses were performed with CANOCO 4 software (ter Braak & Šmilauer, 1998).

Ellenberg nitrogen (III; IV) and light (III) figures were used to compare species in relation to nitrogen and light between conventional and alternative cropping practices (Ellenberg *et al.*, 1991).

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Weed infestation (I, II)

The current weed infestation level of Finnish spring cereals – measured by the dry weight and number of individuals – was found to be 329 kg ha⁻¹ and 243 individuals m⁻² (I). The figures correspond with those found in unsprayed fields in the early 1980s (Erviö & Salonen, 1987). Since the latest weed survey included sprayed and unsprayed conventional as well as organically cropped fields, the current weed infestation level can be regarded as higher than that in the 1980s. The importance of chemical weed control for weed abundance was evident: the difference in the total biomass of weeds between sprayed conventional (163 kg ha⁻¹) and organic (678 kg ha⁻¹) and unsprayed conventional (605 kg ha⁻¹) fields was clear (I). Comparison of the weed abundance of 80 conventionally treated fields revealed only a minor increase in the dry weight (31.1 kg ha⁻¹) and number of individuals (46.6 individuals m⁻²) between decades (II). Thus, the most important change affecting the weed infestation level of Finnish spring cereals was the adoption of organic cropping (I); changes in conventionally cropped fields treated with regular herbicide applications were minor (II).

The pesticide reduction programme launched at the beginning of the 1990s had the ambitious goal to halve the use of pesticides by the amount applied (but not by the area treated) (Ministry of the Environment, 1992). There was no follow-up on the consequences of the reduction programme but the statistics on pesticide sales in Finland showed a marked decline in trends in terms of active ingredients (Fig. 1C). At the same time, Salonen (1993b) studied the performance of herbicide application in Finnish spring cereals, and suggested that the application rates of herbicides could be reduced by 30% annually without a decline in the efficacy of weed control. In the field survey comparing weed abundance between the 1980s and the 1990s (II), the decline in the average application rates of MCPA was about 25%. Furthermore, half of the farmers had applied doses lower than recommended on the herbicide label or the minimum dose in the 1990s (II). The minor change in weed abundance found in the comparison can be regarded as support for the suggestion of Salonen (1993b).

Evidence of the effect of application of sulphonylureas on species composition remained weak (II). The most abundant weed species were mostly the same in both decades (II). Six out

of the twelve most abundant species had a higher number of individuals in the 1990s than in the 1980s but the changes in the number of individuals were minor (II). Changes in the frequencies of occurrence, however, were clear; the most conspicuous increase was in the frequencies of *Chenopodium album* and *Galium spurium*. The most marked percentage increase, however, was in the frequency of occurrence of Cirsium arvense. Earlier studies have documented a shift in the species composition of weed community as a consequence of the application of a herbicide with a certain active ingredient (Mahn & Helmecke, 1979; Hume, 1987). However, documentation of the effect of herbicide application derived from small-scale field experiments (Hume, 1987) whereas the present comparison was conducted as a large-scale on-farm survey. The application of low-dose herbicides was probably not long-lasting enough to cause a shift in weed species composition. Furthermore, different products of low-dose herbicides differed in their active ingredients. Therefore, the effect of low-dose herbicides as a group on different weed species was not consistent. The application of low-dose herbicides as a mixture with phenoxy herbicides was also common (I). Our results suggests that the application of sulphonylureas, which started in the early 1980s, has not affected the structure of weed communities of Finnish spring cereals.

The difference in the weed infestation level between organically and conventionally grown fields was clear (I). In organic cropping, weed biomass accounted for 17.1% of total biomass production, whereas in conventional cropping the proportion remained at around 3% (I). Although the biomass production of herbicide-susceptible weeds differed enormously between cropping practices (e.g. *Chenopodium album*), the most abundant species tended to be the same in both cropping practices (e.g. Elymus repens, C. album, Stellaria media and Galeopsis species) (I). Broad-leaved species accounted for 43% of the total biomass in sprayed conventional and for 72% in organic fields (I), which can be regarded as a consequence of chemical weed control directed against broad-leaved annuals (Hume, 1987). Since the proportion of broad-leaved species was lower in conventional than in organic cropping, the contribution of grasses to weed infestation has become pronounced in conventional cropping. The most abundant grass weed was E. repens, which comprised 26% of the total biomass of weeds in organic and 50% in conventional fields (I). The weed infestation level and changes in the relative abundance of weeds of conventional fields receiving regular chemical weed control is tolerable (I; II). However, the high proportion of E. repens (I) and the huge increase in the frequency of occurrence of Cirsium arvense (II) give cause for concern because both of these are perennial species that reduce yield and are difficult to control.

The current weed infestation level of organic fields was found to be the same as in the 1980s (Mela, 1988), when the number of individuals was 505 m⁻², biomass production 575 kg ha⁻¹ and abundance as a proportion of total biomass 10-13%. Most of the fields studied in the 1990s had only a short history of organic cropping, i.e. they had been converted from conventional to organic cropping earlier in the same decade. High weed infestation may occur after conversion from conventional to organic cropping (Davies *et al.*, 1997). The increase in the seed numbers in the seed bank after conversion from conventional to organic cropping has been found to be dependent on the proportion of cereals in crop rotation (Albrecht & Sommer, 1998; Sjursen 2001). Despite high weed infestation levels, direct weed control measures are rarely applied in organic cropping in Finland (III). In the future, however, such measures (see Rasmussen & Ascard, 1995) will have to be applied in organic cropping.

3.2. Species diversity (I, III, IV)

The structure of the weed community of Finnish spring cereals was typical of any community of organisms: a few of the species were common and abundant but the majority were rare and less abundant. In the weed survey data, 21% of the species exceeded the frequency of occurrence of 10%, and only the three most abundant species produced half of the total biomass (I). The total number of species, i.e. gamma diversity of Finnish spring cereal fields, was observed to be 160 or 188 depending the sample area applied (I). Mukula *et al.* (1969) found 304 species in their study of 2710 fields. Since the number of fields sampled differs between weed surveys, the total numbers of weed species detected in weed surveys in the 1960s and in the 1990s are not comparable. However, it is clear that the weed flora of Finnish spring cereals includes numerous species in addition to those which are of interest in terms of weed control.

All comparisons of species richness between conventional and alternative cropping practices (I, III, IV) showed consistently that species richness was higher in alternative cropping with lower inputs than in conventional cropping. In accordance with the terminology of Whittaker (1970), organic cropping affected species diversity at all levels. In the weed survey data (I), gamma diversity was found to be higher in organic than in conventional cropping in nine out of 15 regions. Exploration of seasonal dynamics revealed that the difference in gamma diversity between organic and conventional cropping was more pronounced after the herbicide treatment of conventional fields (III). The proportion of co-occurring species, which was used as a measure of beta diversity, between cropping practices exceeded 50% in every region of the weed survey (I). The fields of conventional dairy farms were found to have more species co-occurring (63.5%) with organic fields than with conventional cereal fields (61.6%) (III). Alternative cropping was found to support higher alpha diversity both in the experimental (average per field strip 20.2 vs. 13.1 species) (IV) and in the on-farm study (variation in averages between regions 14-25.1 vs. 6.6-17.6 species) (I). However, the difference in the mean number of species between cropping practices remained minor (two species) when the number of species was adjusted to the number of individuals (III).

The application of herbicides in conventional cropping was regarded as the most important factor affecting the difference in species richness between cropping practices (I; III; IV). The importance of herbicide application for species richness was apparent, especially in the comparison of weed communities between cropping practices before and after the application of herbicides to conventional fields (III). These findings support the view that omission of herbicides is beneficial for the species number of the species pool (Svensson & Wigren, 1986; Sotherton, 1990) rather than that herbicide application would not reduce gamma diversity, i.e. the species pool (Fryer & Chancellor, 1970; McCurdy & Molberg, 1974; Chancellor, 1979; Mahn & Helmecke, 1979; Haas & Streibig, 1982). The contradiction between these two views lies more likely in the extent of the species pool they have focused on than in the impact of the herbicides. In the latter case, the species pool included only the most abundant weed species, i.e., those with a huge seed bank to buffer the deleterious effects of herbicide application. In the present studies (I; III; IV), the focus was on a whole species pool, which thus also included rare and less abundant species. Furthermore, in the latter studies the same experimental plots were investigated over several years whereas, here, a sample of fields was studied. Another result in contrast to previous findings was the magnitude of the difference in alpha diversity between organic and conventional cropping (III). Previous comparisons did not take the positive relationship between the number of species and the number of individuals into account (e.g. Moreby et al., 1994; Hald 1999a). Therefore, the differences in the mean number of species between cropping practices, and thus the benefits of organic

cropping for the species number, were clearly overestimated, being partially a sampling artefact.

The contribution of nitrogen fertilisation to species composition proved to be of minor importance. The differences in the abundance of shade tolerant species (III) and in the occurrence of nitrophilous species between cropping practices were small (III; IV). This was in accordance with previous findings, since Rydberg & Milberg (2000) also found only weak support for the preference of non-nitrophilous species for organic cropping. Two reasons were suggested for the minor differences in species composition between cropping practices. First, the nitrogen concentration in conventional fields was not high enough to create dense crop stands and thus limit the amount of light (IV) or the occurrence of weed species directly (III; IV). Second, species with a low nitrogen preference had not returned to the species pool (see Bischoff & Mahn, 2000), insufficient time having elapsed since the shift from conventional to organic cropping (III). The first explanation is likely because the application rates of nitrogen fertilisation in Finnish conventional cropping are relatively low. In countries with intensive crop production, the application rates are clearly higher. Earlier, it was difficult to differentiate between the direct and indirect effects of nitrogen on the weed community (Pyšek & Lepš, 1991). Furthermore, the effects of nitrogen fertilisation on weed species composition and species number were previously found to be outweighed by other factors such as study site and crop species (Andersson & Milberg, 1998). In both of these studies (III; IV), the most important factor affecting weed community was herbicide application. However, the contribution of crop (IV) and crop rotation (III) to species composition was also established, which was probably due to different management attributed to the different crops in the rotation (Doucet et al., 1999). The diverse crop rotation of organic cropping, which aims at maintenance of soil fertility and weed management, affects the species pool of the weed community.

In other countries, organic cropping (Albrecht & Mattheis 1998; van Elsen, 2000; Rydberg & Milberg, 2000) and the omission of herbicide application (Sotherton, 1990) has been found to support populations of rare and endangered weed species. In the present studies (I; III), none of the weed species classified as threatened in Finland (see Rassi et al., 1992) was encountered. The only rare species noted was Centaurea cyanus (I; III; IV), which occurs mainly in autumn cereal fields in Finland. C. cyanus - like many other Finnish threatened weed species (Suominen, 1986) – has suffered more from the decline in the area of autumn cereals than from the intensification of spring cereal cropping practices. In terms of conservation biology, then, the importance of the weed communities of Finnish spring cereal fields remains low. In contrast, the increase in the abundance of common species may be beneficial for the functioning of the ecosystem. For example, the higher proportion of some broad-leaved weed species (e.g. Chenopodium album) found in organic cropping (I) is beneficial because weed pollen, nectar, shoots and seeds constitute an important food source for beneficial insects, such as pollinators and natural enemies of pest insects, and for farmland birds (Wilson et al., 1999; Marshall et al., 2001; Marshall et al., 2003). Weeds also produce organic material for the decomposers and hence serve the cycling of material and nutrients. The increase in the area of organic cropping together with a slight increase in the abundance of weeds in conventional fields is therefore advantageous for the ecosystem of arable fields.

3.3. Spatial variation in weed communities (I, II, III, V)

Specialisation of production in different parts of Finland did not create marked regional differences in the species diversity or species composition of weed communities (I), only a slight regional trend being detected in species composition and the average number of species

between different parts of Finland. However, no difference was observed in the total numbers of species between regions (I). These findings contradict those of Mukula et al. (1969), who suggested a floristic division based on the weed survey data collected in Finland in the 1960s. More recent studies, however, have shown that factors related to regional variation exceed management factors in explaining the species composition of weed communities (Dale et al., 1992; Salonen, 1993a; Hallgren et al., 1999; Leeson et al., 2000). The differences between regions would probably have been more pronounced had the sample of farms in each region better represented the distribution of farms in the region. Neither did the change in weed abundance between decades differ between regions: although the difference in numbers of weed individuals varied between regions, no regional trend in the variation was detected (II). Most of the variation in the change in weed abundance between decades was attributed to the lower scale, i.e. to the variability between fields within the same farm (II). Regional specialisation of production has been thought to pose one of the main threats to the biodiversity of Finnish agricultural habitats (Pitkänen & Tiainen, 2001). The present results did not provide strong evidence for this view regarding the weed communities of spring cereal fields. The impact of management factors on communities of farmland species seems to differ between groups of organisms (see Kinnunen et al., 2001).

At a lower scale, the spatial variation was more pronounced. The comparison between organic and conventional cropping revealed differences in the species pool within both region (I) and patch of farmland (III). Practising organic cropping can therefore be thought to enrich the species pool, i.e. gamma diversity, of a region or patch of farmland. The species pool of conventional dairy farms differed roughly as much from the species pool of conventional cereal farms as did the species pool of organically cropped farms (III). The difference can be attributed to the crop rotation of dairy farms, which includes grasslands (Paatela & Erviö, 1971; Stevenson *et al.*, 1997).

A clear spatial structure in the variation in the species composition of weed communities was also detected at the scale of patch of farmland when all farms engaged in conventional cereal cropping (V). The management variables – farm and crop – explained more of the variation in species composition than did variables describing soil or the physical properties of the environment. The specialisation of some farms in a certain crop was found to be the main reason for the between-farm variation. In this case, however, the difference in beta diversity between farms due to specialisation did not necessarily contribute to gamma diversity at the scale of patch of farmland, because in some crops (e.g. sugar beet) the alpha diversity was low. It was clear that, at the scale of patch of farmland, the different management practices of individual farms can enrich the local species pool. The enrichment, however, is dependent on the management practices.

4. CONCLUSIONS

Adoption of the pesticide reduction programme and the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) of the EU affected the cropping practices of Finnish spring cereal fields in the 1990s. The reduction in the application of herbicides required by the pesticide reduction programme has led to only a slight increase in the weed infestation level or the abundance of individual weed species. Another change in the application of herbicides – the more widespread application of sulphonylureas – has had a minor effect on the species composition of weed communities. In terms of crop protection, the current weed infestation level of conventionally cropped spring cereal fields is tolerable. As to biodiversity, the increase in the abundance of some broad-leaved weed species can be regarded as beneficial.

The adoption of the CAP has resulted in an increase in the area of organic cropping, a change found to be beneficial for the species diversity of weed communities. The weed infestation level of organically cropped fields is, however, high, and direct weed control measures will eventually be needed. Omission of herbicide application was regarded as the most important factor affecting the differences in weed communities between cropping practices. Specialisation of production and the application of different management factors increase spatial variation. The spatial variation of the weed community was stronger within a patch of farmland than between regions. The increase in the area of organic cropping has been beneficial for biodiversity. In terms of species conservation, spring cereal fields are not regarded an important habitat.

The data obtained from on-farm studies and from national weed surveys of spring cereal fields were useful in monitoring the impact of changes in cropping practices on weed communities. A connection was found between agricultural policy and changes in weed communities. In the future, this connection will be strengthened since the data of national weed surveys are one of the indicators applied in efforts to monitor implementation of the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry's strategy for the sustainable use of natural resources (see Yli-Viikari *et al.*, 2002). The weed indicator has to be interpreted with care. Further, more research is needed on the role played by weed species in supporting farmland biodiversity to enable us to answer the pivotal question: how many weeds and what species are needed?

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to express my grateful thanks to my supervisors, Dr. Jukka Salonen (MTT Agrifood Research Finland) and Professor Juha Helenius (University of Helsinki). Jukka has been my guide in weed science, a co-worker and an effective supervisor of this thesis. Juha supervised my post-graduate studies and was an enthusiastic teacher of agro-ecology at the Department of Applied Biology of the University of Helsinki. Both of them made valuable comments on the Summary.

I thank my colleagues at the section of Plant Protection at MTT – Erja Huusela-Veistola, Heikki Jalli, Sirkka Jaakkola, Sanni Junnila, Pentti Ruuttunen and Petri Vanhala – for sharing their knowledge of weed science and agro-ecology with me. Over the years, I have worked closely with Eira-Maija Tanni, Riina Paju and Anne Muotila, who were mainly responsible for the fieldwork and for managing the data. Thank you very much; without you I would still be collecting data in the field. I also thank Kauko Aunola, Jari Poikulainen, Tellervo Ruoho and Leena Ruokonen for their contribution to the fieldwork at MTT. I am further indebted to all those who helped with data collection in the field outside Jokioinen: Sverker Blomberg, Anu Hjelt, Raisa Nikula, Inga Strazdina and Pekka Ylhäinen (weed survey data 1998-1999) and Jukka Nyman, Virpi Aalto and Eija Riihiranta (Lammi 1998-1999). I am grateful to Elise Ketoja for fruitful co-operation in analysing the data.

As a member of the Field Crop Team, I have been privileged to profit from the multidisciplinary know-how of the team and share its constructive atmosphere. The helpful and kind staff of the Plant Protection section made my work easy and enjoyable. My special thanks go to Hannu Ojanen, who was always ready to help me with computer problems.

This work was a part of the Finnish Biodiversity Research Programme (FIBRE) of the Academy of Finland. I would like to express my warmest thanks to Dr. Juha Tiainen, the leader of our project 'Biodiversity in agricultural environments: spatial and temporal variation

at multiple scales and functional significance for the cultivation system'. Juha's unceasing enthusiasm for agro-ecology has been a source of inspiration down the years. The encouraging atmosphere of FIBRE-research group meetings at Lammi Biological Station gave me the motivation I needed in the early days of the work. I thank all those who took part in those meetings, especially Jan-Peter Bäckman, Jyrki Holopainen, Heidi Kinnunen, Miska Luoto, Maohua Ma, Jukka Rintala, Sanna Tarmi and Mikko Tiira. I particularly thank Jyrki for co-operation, stimulating discussions and good company throughout the project.

The work was expertly reviewed by Professor Håkan Fogelfors and Docent Heikki Toivonen. Gillian Häkli kindly revised the language of all the original articles and the Summary.

The thesis was financed by the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, MTT Agrifood Research Finland and the Niemi Foundation.

Throughout the years I have been at Jokioinen, the members of the Badminton Club have kept me in good shape. Without the KVARKA team and my circle of good friends, my leisure hours here would not have passed so congenially. A thousand thanks!

REFERENCES

Albrecht, H. 1995. Changes in arable weed flora of Germany during the last five decades. In: Proceedings of the 9th EWRS Symposium, Budapest. p. 41-48.

Albrecht, H. & Mattheis, A. 1998. The effects of organic and integrated farming on rare arable weeds on the Forschungsverbund Agrarökosysteme München (FAM) research station in southern Bavaria. *Biological Conservation* 86: 347-356.

Albrecht, H. & Sommer, H. 1998. Development of the arable weed seed bank after the change from conventional to integrated and organic cropping. *Aspects of Applied Biology* 51: 279-288.

Altieri, M. 1999. The ecological role of biodiversity in agroecosystem. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 74: 19-31.

Andersson, T. N. & Milberg, P. 1998. Weed flora and the relative importance of site, crop, crop rotation, and nitrogen. *Weed Science* 46: 30-38.

Andreasen, C., Stryhn, H. & Streibig. J.C. 1996. Decline of the flora in Danish arable fields. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 33: 619-626.

Banks, P.A., Santelman, P.W. & Tucker, B.B. 1976. Influence of long-term soil fertility treatments on weed species in winter wheat. *Agronomy Journal* 68: 825-827.

Bàrberi, P., Silvestri, N. & Bonari, E. 1997. Weed communities of winter wheat as influenced by input level and rotation. *Weed Research* 37: 301-313.

Bischoff, A. & Mahn, E.-G., 2000. The effects of nitrogen and diaspore availability on the regeneration of weed communities following extensification. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 77: 237-246.

Borcard, D., Legendre, P. & Drapeau, P. 1992. Partialling out the spatial component of ecological variation. *Ecology* 73: 1045-1055.

Boström, U. & Fogelfors, H. 1999. Type and time of autumn tillage with and without herbicides at reduced rates in southern Sweden. 2. Weed flora and diversity. *Soil & Tillage Research* 50: 283-293.

Boström, U. & Fogelfors, H. 2002. Long-term effects of herbicide-application strategies on weeds and yield on spring-sown cereals. *Weed Science* 50: 196-203.

Chancellor, R.J. 1979. The long-term effects of herbicides on weed populations. *Annals of Applied Biology* 91: 141-144.

Collins, W.W. & Qualset, C.O. (eds.) 1999. *Biodiversity in Agroecosystems*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, USA.

Dale, M.R.T., Thomas, A.G. & John, E.A. 1992. Environmental factors including management practices as correlates of weed community composition in spring seeded crops. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 70: 1931-1939.

Davies, D.H.K., Christal, A., Talbot, M., Lawson, H.M. & Wright, G. 1997. Changes in weed populations in the conversion of two arable farms to organic farming. Proceedings 1997 Brighton crop protection conference – weeds. The British Crop Protection Council. p. 973-978.

Derksen, D.A., Thomas, A.G., Lafond, G.P., Loeppky, H.A. & Swanton, C.J. 1995. Impact of post-emergence herbicides on weed community diversity within conservation-tillage systems. *Weed Research* 35: 311-320.

Doucet, C., Weaver, S.E., Hamill, A.S. & Zhang, J. 1999. Separating the effects of crop rotation from weed management on weed density and diversity. *Weed Science* 47: 729-735.

Ellenberg, H., Weber, H.E., Düll, R., Wirth, V., Werner, W. & Paulißen, D., 1991. Zeigerwerte von Pflanzen in Mitteleuropa. *Scripta Geobotanica* 18, 1-248.

Erviö, L-R. & Salonen, J. 1987. Changes in the weed population of spring cereals in Finland. *Annales Agriculturae Fenniae* 26: 210-226.

Fryer, J. D. & Chancellor, R. J. 1970. Evidence of changing weed populations in arable land. Proceedings of the 10th British Weed Control Conference, Brighton, pp. 958-964.

Goldberg, D. E. & Miller, T. E. 1990. Effects of different resource additions on species diversity in an annual plant community. *Ecology* 71: 213-225.

Haas, H. & Streibig, J.C. 1982. Changing patterns of weed distribution as a result of herbicide use and other agronomic factors. In: LeBaron, H.M. & Gressel, J. (eds.). *Herbicide Resistance in Plants.* John Wiley & Sons, USA. p. 57-79.

Hald, A.B. 1999a. Weed vegetation (wild flora) of long established organic versus conventional cereal fields in Denmark. *Annals of Applied Biology* 134: 307-314.

Hald, A.B. 1999b. The impact of changing the season in which cereals are sown on the diversity of the weed flora in rotational fields in Denmark. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 36: 24-32.

Hallgren, E., Palmer, M.W. & Milberg, P. 1999. Data diving with cross-validation: an investigation of broad-scale gradients in Swedish weed communities. *Journal of Ecology* 87: 1037-1051.

Hämet-Ahti, L., Suominen, J., Ulvinen, T. & Uotila, P. 1998. *Retkeilykasvio* (Field Flora of Finland). Finnish Museum of Natural History, Botanical Museum, Helsinki, Finland.

Heck, K.L.J., van Belle, G. & Simberloff, D. 1975. Explicit calculation of the rarefaction diversity measurement and the determination of sufficient sample size. *Ecology* 56: 1459-1461.

Hoveland, C.S., Buchanan, G.A. & Harris, M.C. 1976. Response of weeds to soil phosphorus and potassium. *Weed Science* 24: 194-201.

Hume, L. 1987. Long-term effects of 2,4-D application on plants. I. Effects on the weed community in a wheat crop. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 65: 2530-2536.

Jørnsgård, B., Rasmussen, K., Hill, J. & Christiansen, L.J. 1996. Influence of nitrogen on competition between cereals and their natural weed populations. *Weed Research* 36: 461-470.

Kinnunen, H., Tiainen, J. & Tukia, H. 2001: Farmland carabid beetle communities at multiple levels of spatial scale. *Ecography* 24: 189-197.

Leeson, J.Y., Sheard, J.W. & Thomas, A.G. 2000. Weed communities associated with arable Saskatchewan farm management systems. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 80: 177-185.

Magurran, A.E. 2004. Measuring Biological Diversity. Blackwell Publishing, Cornwall, UK.

Mahn, E.G. 1988. Changes in the structure of weed communities affected by agro-chemicals – what role does nitrogen play? *Ecological Bulletins* 39: 71-73.

Mahn, E.G. & Helmecke, K. 1979. Effects of herbicide treatment on the structure and functioning of agro-ecosystems II. Structural changes in the plant community after the application of herbicides over several years. *Agro-Ecosystems* 5: 159-179.

Marshall, E.J.P., Brown, V., Boatman, N., Lutman, P. & Squire, G. 2001. The impact of herbicides on weed abundance and biodiversity. PN0940. A report for the UK Pesticide Safety Directorate. IACR-Long Ashton Research Station, UK.

Marshall, E.J.P., Brown, V.K., Boatman, N.D., Lutman, P.J.W., Squire, G.R. & Ward, L.K. 2003. The role of weeds in supporting biological diversity within crop fields. *Weed Research* 43: 77-89.

McCurdy, E.V. & Molberg, E.S. 1974. Effects of the continuous use of 2,4-D and MCPA on spring wheat production and weed populations. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* 54: 241-245.

Mela, T. 1988. Organic farming in Finland. Cultivation methods, weeds, soil fertility, yields and yield quality. Helsingin yliopiston kasvinviljelytieteen laitoksen julkaisuja no. 16, 220 p. (in Finnish with English summary)

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 1994. Ehdotus maatalouden ympäristötukiohjelmaksi [Proposal for Agri-Environmental Support Scheme]. Maatalouden ympäristötukiryhmä, Työryhmämuistio 1994/19, Helsinki, Finland. 38 p. and 12 appendices.

Ministry of the Environment. 1992. Ehdotus maaseudun ympäristöohjelmaksi [Proposal for Environmental Scheme for Countryside]. Ympäristönsuojeluosasto, Työryhmän mietintö 68/92, Helsinki, Finland. 49 p.

Moreby, S.J., Aebischer, N.J., Souhway, S.E. & Sotherton, N.W. 1994. A comparison of the flora and arthropod fauna of organically and conventionally grown winter wheat in southern England. *Annals of Applied Biology* 125: 13-27.

Mukula, J. 1974. Weed competition in spring cereals in Finland. *Forskning och Försök in Landbruket* 25: 585-592.

Mukula, J., Raatikainen, M., Lallukka, R. & Raatikainen, T. 1969. Composition of weed flora in spring cereals in Finland. *Annales Agriculturae Fenniae* 8: 59-109.

Paatela, J. & Erviö, L-R. 1971. Weed seeds in cultivated soils in Finland. *Annales Agriculturae Fenniae* 10: 144-152.

Pickett, S.T.A. & White, P.S. (eds.) 1985. *The Ecology of Natural Disturbance and Patch Dynamics*. Academic Press, Orlando, Florida, USA.

Pitkänen, M. & Tiainen, J. 2001. Biodiversity of agricultural landscapes in Finland. BirdLife Finland Conservation Series No. 3.

Pyšek, P. & Lepš, J. 1991. Response of a weed community to nitrogen fertilization: a multivariate analysis. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 2: 237-244.

Rasmussen, J. & Ascard, J. 1995. Weed control in organic farming systems. In: Glen, D.M., Greaves, M.P. & Anderson, H.M. (eds.). *Ecology and Integrated Farming Systems*. John Wiley & Sons, USA, p. 49-67.

Rassi, P., Kaipiainen, H., Mannerkoski, I. & Ståhls, G. (eds.) 1992. Report on the monitoring of threatened animals and plants in Finland. Committee report 1991, 30. Ministry of the Environment, Helsinki, Finland. 328 p. (in Finnish with English summary)

Rydberg, N. T. & Milberg, P. 2000. A survey of weeds in organic farming in Sweden. *Biological Agriculture and Horticulture* 18: 175-185.

Salonen, J. 1993a. Weed infestation and factors affecting weed incidence in spring cereals in

Finland – a multivariate approach. Agricultural Science in Finland 2: 525-536.

Salonen, J. 1993b. Reducing herbicide use in spring cereal production. *Agricultural Science in Finland* 2, Supplement 2.

Sjursen. H. 2001. Change of the weed seed bank during the first complete six-course crop rotation after conversion from conventional to organic farming. *Biological Agriculture and Horticulture* 19: 71-90.

Sotherton, N.W. 1990. Conservation headlands: a practical combination of intensive cereal farming and conservation. In: Firbank, L.G., Carter, N., Darbyshire, J.F. & Potts, G.R. (eds.). *The Ecology of Temperate Cereal Fields*. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK, p. 373-397.

Stevenson, F.C., Légère, A, Simard, R.R., Angers, D.A., Pageau, D. & Lafond, J. 1997. Weed species diversity in spring barley varies with crop rotation and tillage, but not with nutrient source. *Weed Science* 45: 798-806.

Suominen, J. 1986. The vanishing element of Finnish field weeds. *Memoranda Societas Pro Fauna Flora Fennica* 62: 79-82. (In Finnish with English summary)

Svensson, R. & Wigren, M. 1986. Observations on the decline of some farmland weeds. *Memoranda Societas Pro Fauna Flora Fennica* 62: 63-67.

Swift, M.J. & Anderson, J.M. 1993. Biodiversity and ecosystem function in agricultural systems. In: Schulze, E-D. & Mooney, H.A. (eds.). *Biodiversity and Ecosystem Function*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany, p. 15-41.

ter Braak, C.J.F. & Šmilauer, P. 1998. *CANOCO Reference Manual and User's Guide to Canoco for Windows: Software for Canonical Community Ordination (version 4)*. Microcomputer Power, Ithaca, USA.

van Delden, A., Lotz, L.A.P., Bastiaans, L., Franke, A.C., Smid, H.G., Groeneveld R.M.W. & Kropff, M.J. 2002. The influence of nitrogen supply on the ability of wheat and potato to suppress Stellaria media growth and reproduction. *Weed Research* 42: 429-445.

Vandermeer, J., Lawrence, D., Symstad, A. & Hobbie, S. 2002. Effect of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning in managed ecosystems. In: *Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning – Synthesis and Perspectives*. Loreau, M., Naeem, S. & Inchausti, P. (eds.). Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, p. 221-233.

van Elsen, T. 2000. Species diversity as a task for organic agriculture in Europe. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 77: 101-109.

van Tongeren, O.F.R. 1995. Cluster analysis. In: *Data Analysis in Community and Landscape Ecology*. Jongman, R.H.G., ter Braak, C.J.F. & van Tongeren, O.F.R. (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, p. 174-212.

Whittaker, R.H. 1970. Communities and Ecosystems. Macmillan, London, UK.

Wilson, J.D., Morris, A.J., Arroyo, B.E., Clark, S.C. & Bradbury, R.B. 1999. A review of the abundance and diversity of invertebrate and plant foods of granivorous birds in northern Europe in relation to agricultural change. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 75: 13-30.

Wilson, P. 1991. Europe's endangered arable weeds. Shell Agriculture 10: 4-6.

Wilson, P. 1999. The effect of nitrogen on populations of rare arable plans in Britain. *Aspects of Applied Biology* 54: 93-100

Wilson, S.D. & Tilman, D. 1991. Components of plant competition along an experimental gradient of nitrogen availability. *Ecology* 72: 1050-1065.

Yli-Viikari, A., Risku-Norja, H., Nuutinen, V., Heinonen, E., Hietala-Koivu, R., Huusela-Veistola, E., Hyvönen, T., Kantanen, J., Raussi, S., Rikkonen, P., Seppälä, A. & Vehmasto, E. 2002. Agri-environmental and rural development indicators: a proposal. Maa- ja elintarviketalous 5.